
 

EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Notice of Meeting 

Employment Committee 
Councillor Leake (Chair),  
Councillor Allen (Vice-Chair),  
Councillors Angell, Bhandari, Dudley, Mrs L Gibson, Neil, Porter and 
Wade 
 
Non-Voting Co-optees 
Councillor Peter Heydon 
Wednesday 8 February 2023, 7.30 pm 
Council Chamber - Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell, RG12 
1JD 

 

 

Agenda 
All councillors at this meeting have adopted the Mayor’s Charter  

which fosters constructive and respectful debate. 

Item Description Page 
 
1.  Apologies   

 To receive apologies for absence and to note the attendance of any 
substitute members.  

 

 
2.  Declarations of Interest   

 Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary or affected 
interests in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are 
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring 
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest to 
the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when the 
interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be 
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the 
meeting.  

 

 
3.  Minutes from previous meeting  3 - 6 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Committee 
held on 14 December 2022.  

 

 
4.  Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 

 
5.  Update from the Chairman of the Local Joint Committee   



 

EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

 A verbal update from the Chairman of the Local Joint Committee.  
 
6.  Minutes of Sub Groups  7 - 8 

 The Committee is asked to note the minutes of the Local Joint Committee 
held on 14 December 2022.  

 

 
7.  Annual Update of The Council's Pay Statement  9 - 40 

 To review and agree the Pay Policy Statement for 2023/24. 
Reporting: Paul Young 

 

 
8.  HR Policy Review - Substance Misuse Policy  41 - 54 

 To review and agree the revised policy for Substance Misuse.  

Reporting: Paul Young 

 

Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted.  Please 
contact Hannah Harding, 01344 352308, hannah.harding@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so that 
any special arrangements can be made. 
Published: 31 January 2023 



 

 

EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE 
14 DECEMBER 2022 
6.30  - 7.05 PM 
  

Present: 
Councillors Leake (Chair), Allen (Vice-Chair), Dudley and Mrs L Gibson 
Present Virtually: 
Councillors Bhandari and Neil 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
Councillors Angell, Porter and Wade 

18. Declarations of Interest  
There were no declarations of interest. 

19. Minutes from previous meeting  
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 12 October 2022 were 
approved and signed by the Chair. 

20. Urgent Items of Business  
There were no urgent items of business. 

21. Update from the Chairman of the Local Joint Committee  
The Committee was advised that the Local Joint Committee had discussed items 7, 8 
and 9 on the agenda.  There had been some complimentary comments but no 
requests for amendments or adverse comments. 

22. Minutes of Sub Groups  
The Committee received and noted the minutes of the Local Joint Committee held on 
12 October 2022 and the Education Employment Sub Committee on12 October 
2022. 

23. COVID-19: Health & Safety Assessment Report  
The Committee received and noted a report summarising the results of health and 
safety assessments undertaken by staff since January 2022 by way of eLearning 
packages.  These included Display Screen Equipment, Home Working Assessments, 
Returning to the Office Assessment and BAME Vulnerable Assessments.  Staff were 
required to undertake these assessments as the council had a duty of care under 
Health and Safety legislation for ensuring the wellbeing of all staff.  Most had had to 
change their working environments and ways of working.   
  
According to the NHS’ Equality and Health Inequality hub, the coronavirus pandemic 
had widened the health inequalities across the country, disproportionately impacting 
on many who already faced disadvantage and discrimination.  Evidence showed this 
has had a particularly negative effect on BAME communities.  Therefore, it was 

3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

important for the Council to be aware of how this may be impacting the workforce and 
put in place actions to mitigate these impacts. 
  
The following had been undertaken:  
  
•           BAME/Vulnerable Assessment: 0 (no new ones) 
•           DSE e-learning: 38  
•           DSE Assessments 128 
•           New Working from Home Assessments:17  
•           Returning to the Office Assessment: 207 
  
The Committee noted the report. 

24. HR Policy Review - Domestic Abuse and Violence/Abuse at Work  
The Committee consider a report inviting it to review and approve revised policies for 
Domestic Abuse and Violence/Abuse at Work.  The Human Resources (HR) team 
was undertaking a review of the HR policies with a view to updating and, where 
applicable, rationalising the number required.  
  
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the following amendments which had been 
made to the policies: 
  
Domestic Abuse: 
  
•           Equality section amended  
•           amendment to scope 
•           confidentiality section added 
•           updated domestic abuse definition 
•           expanded on employee & manager responsibilities 
•           expanded on responding to disclosure section 
•           added section for when both victim and perpetrator work for the council, 
•           added appendix on types of abuse.  
  
Violence/Abuse at work policy:  
  
•           Updates to name of organisations/bodies. 
•           Reference to new policies - Equality and Dignity at Work Policy. 
•           Added statement about Cyberbullying and approaches to addressing this. 
•           Links to guidance/policy added for ease of reference. 
  
The Committee was advised that the HR/OD Team would be supporting the effective 
management of these procedures through a programme of development for 
managers. 
  
RESOLVED that the revised policies for Domestic Abuse and Violence/Abuse at 
Work be approved.     

25. Annual Workforce Monitoring Report 2021/22  
The Committee considered the Council’s Annual Workforce Monitoring Report.  The 
Council aspired to be an Employer of Choice and live its values of Inclusive, 
Ambitious and Always Learning.  Under the Equality Act 2010. it also had a legal duty 
to advance equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote 
good relations between people. Part of this legal duty was to report annually on its 
workforce composition.  The aim for the Council’s workforce was to reflect the 

4



 

 

composition of the local population to ensure it was representative of the community, 
thereby helping to ensure that appropriate services were provided to everyone.  
There was also a wish to celebrate diversity and ensure everyone was treated fairly 
and with dignity and respect.   
  
The report provided an update on the actions identified when considering the 
previous year’s report and the ongoing actions that would form the new action plan 
for 2022-2023 and onwards. 
  
The Committee asked if more could be done to address the disparity between male 
and female workers within the Council, particularly in social care.  It was explained 
that this was thought to be a reflection that was occurring nationally, and continued 
work would look to see what could be done to address this including continued 
recruitment campaigns and offering apprenticeships. 
  
RESOLVED that the Annual Workforce Monitoring Report be noted and approved for 
publication on the Council’s web site. 

CHAIRMAN 

5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

LOCAL JOINT COMMITTEE 
14 DECEMBER 2022 
4.00  - 4.30 PM 
  

Present: 
Councillors Leake (Chair), Allen and Wade 
David Allais, UNISON 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
Councillors Angell 
   

12. Declarations of Interests  
There were no declarations of interest.  

13. Minutes from Previous Meeting  
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2022, were approved as a correct 
record. 

14. Urgent Items of Business  
There were no Urgent Items of Business  

15. Employment Committee: Agenda and Related Matters  
      i.         COVID-19: Health & Safety Assessment Report  
  
Doug Brady, Health & Safety and Facilities Manager summarised to the sub-
committee the results of health and safety assessments undertaken by staff since 
January 2022 through eLearning packages. These included Display Screen 
Equipment, Home Working Assessments, Returning to the Office Assessment and 
BAME Vulnerable Assessments. It was noted that since the rules had relaxed 
regarding working in the office over the course of 2022 that home to office 
assessments were no longer required.  
  
BAME staff represented 11% of the workforce at Bracknell Forest Council. This group 
had been recognised as vulnerable or at an increased risk of Covid-19 and Public 
Health had advised that extra measures were taken to reduce their risk of exposure 
to the disease. 128 assessments had been submitted for analysis. 
  
The Council’s wellness provision was managed via managers and through 1-2-1s. A 
full staff survey, which had included wellbeing questions, had been recently circulated 
to staff with feedback due in the New Year. 
  
     ii.         HR Policy Review - Domestic Abuse and Violence/Abuse at Work  
  
The Assistant Director: Human Resources & Organisational Development, Paul 

7

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Young, advised the Sub-Committee that the Human Resources team were 
undertaking a review of the HR policies with a view to update and, where applicable, 
rationalise the number required. 
  
A schedule had been established for the policy development work which has already 
seen updates to the Disciplinary, Grievance, Organisational Change and Agile 
Working procedures. The process for reviewing the policies has included 
engagement with stakeholders across the Council and trade unions. 
  
The following amendments had been made to the policies: 
  
Domestic Abuse 
  

•         Equality section amended 
•         amendment to scope 
•         confidentiality section added 
•         updated DA definition 
•         expanded on employee & manager responsibilities 
•         expanded on responding to disclosure section 
•         added section for when both victim and perpetrator work for the council 
•         added appendix on types of abuse 

  
Violence/Abuse at work policy 
  

•         Updates to name of organisations/bodies 
•         Reference to new policies - Equality and Dignity at Work Policy 
•         Added statement about Cyberbullying and approaches to addressing this 
•         Links to guidance/policy added for ease of reference. 

  
It was recognised that the policy and procedure alone did not provide the confidence 
and competence to manage workforce situations. The HR/OD Team would be 
supporting the effective management of these procedures through a programme of 
development for managers.  The wording around reporting situations to the police 
would be looked at and made clearer. 
  
   iii.         Annual Workforce Monitoring Report 2021/22  

  
The Assistant Director: Human Resources & Organisational Development, Paul 
Young, advised the Sub-Committee that the Council were required to publish a 
workforce monitoring report which provided a report of the equality data for Bracknell 
Forest Council for the year to 31 March 2022. 
  
Aside from the statutory duties, the Council had a clear aim to ensure equality across 
all services and through its workforce. The aim for the Council’s workforce was to 
reflect the composition of the local population to ensure it is representative of the 
community and ensuring that appropriate services are provided to all residents.  

16. Matters to be Raised by Trade Unions  
No matters were raised by the trade unions. 

CHAIRMAN 

8



To: EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE  
8 February 2023  

 
 

Annual Update of The Council’s Pay Statement  
 Executive Director: Resources  

 
1 Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 Since 2012, and in accordance with the 2011 Localism Act, the Council has been 

required to publish an annual Pay Statement.  The Statement is also aligned with the 
requirements of the Transparency Regulations. The pay statement is applicable for 
the financial year 2023/24.  

 
2 Recommendation 
 
2.1 That Employment Committee review and agree the Pay Policy Statement for 

2023/24 
 
3 Reasons for Recommendation 
3.1 To comply with the Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 

guidance and 2014 Transparency Code requirements. 

3.2 To Highlight the Councils commitment to transparency and equity in pay. 

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 None.  It is a legal requirement to produce and publish the statement. 

5 Supporting Information 

5.1 The 2023/24 Pay Policy Statement is attached.  

5.2  The annual pay statement has previously been produced towards the end of the 
financial year in which it applies.  As the statement confirms how the Council will 
apply the pay arrangements, this should be produced prior to the financial year in 
which it applies. Employment Committee will recall that the pay statement for the 
current financial year (22/23) was agreed by the committee in July 2022 before 
proceeding through to Full Council. The production of this statement will enable the 
23/24 statement to be applied for the beginning of the new financial year.  

5.2  Once agreed through Employment Committee, the statement will be taken to Full 
Council.  

6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

6.1 Legal Advice 6.1 Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to 
produce a pay statement to be agreed by Members before the beginning of each 
financial year. The Act does not apply to local authority schools. This document 
meets the requirements of the Act for the Bracknell Forest Council. This Pay Policy 
Statement presents the expected position at 1 April 2022. The provisions of the 
Localism Act require that local authorities are more open about their own local 

9

Agenda Item 7



policies and how their local decisions are made. The Code of Recommended 
Practice for Local Authorities on Data Transparency enshrines the principles of 
transparency and asks Authorities to follow three principles when publishing data 
they hold: responding to public demand, releasing data in open 31 Agenda Item 8 
formats available for re-use, and, releasing data in a timely way. This includes data 
on senior salaries and the structure of the workforce. 

Financial Advice 

6.2 There are no financial implications arising from the report.  

 Other Consultation Responses 

6.3 The statement will be shared with the Local Joint Committee.  

Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 Discussed across the document. 

Strategic Risk Management Issues 

6.5 Failure to explicitly respond to guidance on the content of published information will 
run the risk of challenge from the DCLG. 

Climate Change Implications 

6.6 The recommendations in Section 2 above are expected to have no impact on 
emissions of CO2. 

The reasons the Council believes that this will have no impact on emissions are the 
fact that this is a statement of pay policy and remuneration of staff.    

Health & Wellbeing Considerations 

6.7 Ensuring a transparent pay system is in place should ensure staff feel valued and 
recognise the mechanism for staff remuneration.  

 

 

 

Background Papers 
None 
 
Contact for further information 
Paul Young, Assistant Director HR and Organisational Development, Resources  
Paul.young@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 

10

mailto:Paul.young@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 
Bracknell Forest Council  

 
PAY STATEMENT FOR THE  
FINANCIAL YEAR 2023/24  

 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Source and scope of pay statement 
 
This Pay Statement has been produced in accordance with Sections 38 to 43 of the 
Localism Act 2011 (the Act), which, from 2012 onwards, require local authorities to publish 
an annual statement of their approach to pay for the relevant financial year in relation to: 
 

• The remuneration of their most senior employees (which the Act defines as the head 
of paid service (Chief Executive), the Monitoring Officer, the Assistant Directors (or 
Directors), and the Deputy Assistant Directors (i.e. managers who report directly to a 
Director)); 

• The remuneration of their lowest-paid employees; and  
• The relationship between the remuneration of the most senior employees and that of 

other employees. 
 

The statement is for the financial year 2023/24.  Data on existing salaries, job roles and 
statistics contained within the statement are based at 1 December 2022.  
 
The Secretary of State has produced guidance on the Act’s provisions relating to openness 
and accountability in local pay, which local authorities must have regard to in preparing and 
approving their annual pay policy statements and the Council’s statement takes full account 
of this guidance to date as well as the provisions of the Act.  
 
It also takes account of: 

• Local Government Transparency Code 2014 
• Guidance issued by the Joint National Council (JNC) for Local Authority Chief 

Executives on pay policy statements, published in November 2011 
• Guidance under section 40 of Localism Act 2011, published by DCLG 
• Employment and equalities legislation affecting local authority employers, where 

relevant. 
 
To aid transparency, this statement also contains or refers to information which the Council 
is already required to publish under other legislation, i.e. 

• Information on the actual level of remuneration paid to senior managers, as required 
by The Accounts and Audit (Amendment No. 2) (England) Regulations 2009  

• Policies on the exercise of its discretions over payments upon termination of 
employment under the Local Government Pension Scheme, as required by Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 

• Policies on the exercise of its discretions over payments upon termination of 
employment under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006, as required 
by Regulation 7 of those regulations. 

 
The Government’s guidance on the Localism Act’s pay provisions states that it is open to 
Councils to include in this Statement their policies on the remuneration of employees who 

11



are neither the most senior officers nor the lowest paid.  Accordingly, this Policy Statement 
also gives details of: 

• The policies applied to employees earning in excess of £50,000, as required by Local 
Government Transparency Code 2014 

• Elements of remuneration which apply to all employees, regardless of their pay level, 
status or grading within the Council. 

 
As such, this Statement draws together all the relevant existing policies and can therefore be 
seen as a comprehensive document covering all relevant aspects of pay and remuneration 
within the Council. 
 
 
Status of pay statement 
 
In line with the requirements of the Localism Act, the Pay Statement will be reviewed on an 
annual basis, with a new version approved at the start of each subsequent financial year, 
which will need to be complied with during that year. 
 
The Pay Statement can also be amended during any financial year, but only by a resolution 
of the full Council.  If it is amended during the year to which it relates, the revised version of 
the statement will be published as soon as reasonably possible after the amendment is 
approved by the Council. 
 
 
Transparency and autonomy 
 
It is important to recognise that, whilst producing national legislation relating to their pay 
policies, the Government also explicitly recognises that each local authority remains an 
individual employer, and, as such, has the autonomy to make decisions on pay that are 
appropriate to local circumstances and deliver value for money for local taxpayers. 
 
 
SECTION 1: REMUNERATION OF STATUTORY AND NON-STATUTORY DIRECTORS, 
ASSISTANT DIRECTORS, MONITORING OFFICER AND OTHER SENIOR POSTS 
 
1.1 REMUNERATION COVERED IN THIS SECTION OF THE POLICY 
 
This section covers the Council’s policies in relation to the remuneration of its senior 
employees, including: 
 

• Its Chief Executive; 
 

• Its Executive Directors and Directors who report to and are directly accountable to 
the Chief Executive – this includes both statutory and non-statutory Executive 
Directors; 
 

• Its Assistant Directors, who report to and are directly accountable to Executive 
Directors; 
 

• Its Section 151 Officer (the Executive Director of Resources), who is also an 
Executive Director and remunerated as such; 

 

12



• Its Monitoring Officer (the Borough Solicitor, who is the officer responsible for 
ensuring the Council’s compliance with the law in all its activities) is also an Assistant 
Director and is remunerated as such. 

 
1.2 CONTEXT  
 
These senior employees are responsible for working with elected politicians to determine the 
overall strategic direction of the Council, to develop the scale, nature, efficiency and 
effectiveness of all the services provided by the Council, and to provide day-to-day 
leadership and management of those services. 
 
In relation to other organisations in all sectors across the UK, the Council is a large, complex 
organisation providing a very diverse range of services.  Many of those services are vital to 
the wellbeing of individuals and groups of residents in the local community and are delivered 
in very challenging circumstances, taking account of levels of need and the availability of 
resources to meet them. 
 
The Council’s senior employees are responsible for: 

• 2733 employees (equivalent to 2171.19 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees).  
These numbers are as at 1 December 2022 and include LA schools 

• Services to an estimated 122,549 residents within the local community (source: 
ONS 2018 via https://bracknell-forest.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/) 

• The following services to the local community: 
o Adult social services 
o Children and families social services 
o Countryside and open space management and maintenance 
o Education and schools 
o Elections and local democracy 
o Environmental including pest control 
o Environmental Services, including refuse collection, recycling, street cleaning 

and waste disposal 
o Housing and welfare  
o Housing and Council tax benefits 
o Leisure and Arts provision 
o Libraries 
o Planning 
o Roads, transport, street lighting and car parking 
o Youth and Community Services 
o Public Health 
o Regeneration and economic development 
o Community Safety 
 

• The following facilities: 
o 26 LA schools (including one Pupil Referral Unit and one special school) and 10 

Academies 
o Two respite services (overnight and daytime)  
o 4 Children’s Centres 
o 9 libraries 
o Over 80 park sites totalling over 1,000 acres of land 
o 24 play areas, plus wheeled sports areas, tennis courts, soccer pitches, a 

baseball diamond and a sports pavilion 
o 14 community centres 
o One town centre office and the commercial centre 
  

13



 
 

• The Council: 
o Is responsible for the education of around 17,000 children 
o Deals with around 1,200 planning applications per year 
o Manages and maintains around 456 kilometres of roads, 700+ kilometres of 

paths and cycleways, 200+ bridges, underpasses and other structures 
o Manages and maintains cutting almost 2.5 million square metres of grass and 

manages and maintains approximately 625,000 square metres of woodland 
o Is responsible for around 142 looked-after children 
o Licences 255 premises and clubs and 296 taxis 
o Currently has over 1,640 open cases on adults and provided long term services 

to over 1,263 people. 
 

The Council must compete with other employers in the area (and, in many cases, in the 
country) to recruit and retain managers and staff who are capable of meeting the challenges 
of delivering this diverse range of services to the required standards.  This has an important 
bearing on the levels of remuneration it offers which has been kept under review on a 
regular basis by the Employment Committee.  At the same time, the Council is under an 
obligation to secure the best value for money for its residents and tax-payers in taking 
decisions on pay levels. In recent years the Employment Committee has sought to strike a 
fair balance between these competing pressures. 
 
 
1.3 RESPONSIBILITIES OF SENIOR ROLES 
 
To give further contextual information for remuneration levels, the main accountabilities of 
the Chief Executive and Directors are set out below. 
 

• Chief Executive 
The Chief Executive is the Council’s most senior employee who leads and takes 
responsibility for the work of the Council.  It is a full time appointment and post holders 
are selected on merit, against objective criteria, following public advertisement.  

The role of Chief Executive is complex with ultimate responsibility for managing 
expenditure of 263.9 million of public funds, serving around 122,549 people in the 
Council’s area.  

As head of the paid service of the Council's employed staff, the Chief Executive is a non-
political post. Whilst the elected councillors provide the policies, Council paid employees 
put them into practice.  The Chief Executive is responsible to and accountable to, the 
Leader of the Council, the Executive and the whole Council in delivering their political 
and policy objectives. 

The Chief Executive works closely with elected councillors to deliver: 

Leadership: to ensure strong and visible leadership and direction, encouraging and 
enabling managers to motivate and inspire their teams;  

Strategic direction: ensuring all staff understand and adhere to the strategic aims of 
the organisation and follow the direction set by elected councillors;  

Policy advice: acting as the principal policy adviser to the elected councillors to lead 
the development of workable strategies which will deliver the political objectives set;  

14



Partnerships: leading and developing strong partnerships across the local 
community to achieve improved outcomes and better public services for local people;  

Operational Management: overseeing financial and performance management, risk 
management, people management and change management within the Council. 

Staff under indirect management responsibility: 2733 
 

• Executive Director – People 
 
This post has a statutory role in relation to both adult and children’s social care, and 
is responsible and accountable for assessing local needs and ensuring the 
availability and delivery of a full range of services, and ensure that children and 
young people achieve the best possible outcomes for their lives through education  
 
The directorate provides advice and information about the range of services that may 
be available to support individuals or families.  Practitioners will work with individuals 
and their carers to identify needs for care and support and/or housing and how those 
needs can be met.  If people are not eligible, the department can give them 
information about other ways of accessing support and organisations where they 
could go to get help.  There is joint work with Children’s Services to ensure support is 
in place when the young person reaches 18 years of age.   
 
The focus of support is to enable people to maximise their ability and retain their 
independence, which will mean people can stay in their own homes for as long as 
possible.  Support may be needed for a crisis or a longer period, and the directorate 
will generally commission this.  Depending on assessed needs, a range of services 
could be provided in partnership with other organisations to meet the social care 
needs of adults and older people. Services include home support, day opportunities, 
the provision of equipment for daily living and residential and nursing care.  The 
Directorate also has a responsibility to ensure that the needs of “informal” carers 
(usually family or friends) are identified, and appropriate support is offered to enable 
them to continue in their caring role, should this be what they wish. 
 
The post is also responsible for ensuring the provision of Housing Advice and 
Homelessness Prevention as well as the provision of Housing and Council Tax 
Benefits.    
 
The Welfare and Housing Service aims to maximise customers’ income and 
independence.  The Welfare Service provides national and local welfare payments to 
households in the Borough and provides advice to households so that they can 
maximise their income including budgeting advice and employment opportunities.  
The Housing service provides advice to households so that they can resolve their 
housing need, provides advice and if necessary, accommodation for homeless 
households and overall helps customers secure a home that meets their needs.  The 
Forest care service provides an emergency and re-assurance service to its 
customers so that they can maintain their independence in their home and feel safe 
and secure in the knowledge that if an emergency occurs there is help to call upon.   
 
Its duties include specific support for the following:  

 
Children’s Social Care 
• Child Protection / Safeguarding 
• Looked After Children 
• Specialist Support 

15



• Youth Offending Service  
 
Adult Social Care 
• Adult Community Team (ACT) 
• Learning Disabilities 
• Safeguarding 

 
Mental Health and Out of Hours 
• Mental Health 
• Emergency Duty Team 
• Forestcare 
• Drug and Alcohol Services (DAAT) 

 
Early Help and Communities  
• Housing 
• Strategy, Resources and Early Help 
 
Education and Learning 
• School Advisory team  
• School Sufficiency and Commissioning 
• Community Learning 
• Governor Services 
• Targeted Services 
• Education Centre and Education Library Service 
• Education Psychology & SEN 
• Education Capital & Property 
 
Commissioning  
• Financial Assessments (Support Hub) 
• Financial Assessments (Income) 
• Joint Commissioning 
• Performance Management & Governance 

 
 

Budget responsibility: £55.9 million per annum  
 
Staff under direct or indirect line management responsibility: 660 (excluding 
schools) 

 
 

• Executive Director – Delivery 
 
The directorate is responsible for the strategic planning and operational delivery of 
services covering a wide range of functions and activities.  It targets its services to 
meet the high standards residents, local businesses and visitors expect.  Some of 
these services are delivered directly, others in partnership with the voluntary and 
charitable sectors and some through contracts with private companies.  The 
directorate operates with 5 service divisions as follows: 

 
• Customer Experience  

• Digital Services 
• Libraries, Arts & Heritage 
• Transport and Support 
 

16



• Legal Services 
• Democratic Services  

• Elections  
• Registrars 

• ICT 
• Contract Services 

• Environmental services 
• Leisure Services 
• Operational Support 
• Cemetery and crematorium 

• Property  
 

The Director also acts as Statutory Overview & Scrutiny Officer 
 

Budget responsibility: £15.6 million per annum 
  
Staff under direct or indirect line management responsibility: 195 

 
 
• Executive Director – Place, Planning and Regeneration  

 
This post is responsible and accountable for the effective planning and delivery of 
the regeneration, development and future infrastructure of the Borough, within the 
statutory policy guidelines and planning framework agreed by the Council.  The 
directorate targets its services to meet the high standards residents, local 
businesses and visitors expect.   
 
The directorate operates with 6 service divisions including: 
• Town and country planning 
• Building Control and land charges 
• Transport Development 
• The Look Out Discovery Centre 
• Highway Asset Management 
• Parks and countryside management 
• Regeneration and economy  
• Public Health – Local Team  
• Public Health – Shared Team 

 
Budget responsibility: £7.2 million per annum 
  
Staff under direct or indirect line management responsibility: 192. 
 

The Directorate includes the Bracknell Forest Public Health Team.  Public Health 
work aims to improve the health and wellbeing of the population, tackle health 
inequalities and reduce premature mortality.  The team commissions a range of 
services including health visiting and school nurses, stop smoking support, weight 
management, health checks, sexual health, falls prevention, mental health and 
substance misuse treatment.  The team also provides support and advice on health 
matters direct to the community via campaigns, events and social media, as well as 
providing support to other professional agencies on issues such as infectious disease 
control or patterns of health and healthcare outcomes within the local population.  
Collaboration is central to work of the Public Health team, particularly with colleagues 
in social care, the NHS and the voluntary sector.  In addition to the Bracknell Forest 

17



Public Health team, the Directorate also hosts the Berkshire-wide ‘Shared’ Public 
Health team which provides strategic, contracting and data support to the six unitary 
authority Public Health teams across the county. This team is led by the Strategic 
Director of Public Health. 

 
 

•  Executive Director – Resources  
 

This role fulfils the statutory obligations of the Chief Financial Officer, as set out in 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, Sections 112, 113 and 114 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, 
in order to ensure that the financial affairs of the Authority are properly administered. 
This role is the prime adviser to the Council on financial matters including the 
development and monitoring of financial strategies, policies, programmes and 
procedures.  This role is also responsible for the strategic implementation of 
Organisational Development and Human Resources to support the Council Plan, 
Service Plans and associated budgets. 
 
Areas of responsibility include: 
• Accountancy 
• Audit  
• Finance & Business Services 
• Procurement 
• Revenue Services 
• Human Resources 
• Organisational Development 

 
Budget responsibility: £5.9 million per annum  
 
Staff under direct or indirect line management responsibility: 90 

 
 
 

 

18



1.4 OVERALL POLICY ON REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR ROLES 
 
The Council’s overall approach to remuneration for its senior employees is based on: 
 
Compliance with equal pay, discrimination and other relevant employment legislation, plus 
recognition of the demanding nature of the challenges which the Council faces, and the 
requirement to offer competitive remuneration in relation to the rest of the local government 
and public sectors, in order to secure the most talented managers.  This means that, on the 
advice of the Employment Committee, the Council has always taken account of: 
 
• pay levels in the local area, including neighbouring public sector employers 
• the relative cost of living in the local area, particularly housing costs 
• the responsibilities and accountabilities of posts which may be exceptionally demanding.  
 
The Council seeks to maintain this overall approach by carefully monitoring pay data 
provided by the Joint National Councils (JNCs) for Chief Officers and Chief Executives, the 
Local Government Association/Employers, and other relevant pay surveys. 
 
In terms of pay differentials, the Council recognises that the role of Chief Executive leads the 
organisation’s workforce and has the greatest level of accountability, and so warrants the 
highest pay level in the organisation.  
 
At Executive Director level: 
 

• The Council recognises that all its Executive Directors have a collective and 
corporate responsibility for contributing to and delivering the overall strategy of the 
organisation, however the size and scope of their responsibilities differ and therefore 
an appropriate grade from the senior salaries structure is determined through a job 
evaluation conducted by Korn Ferry.   
 

At Assistant Director level: 
 

• The Council recognises that certain roles are more demanding than others and has 
identified those with a greater level of accountability through job evaluation, (which 
provides a careful analysis of job demands) and offers them higher remuneration 
than other Assistant Director posts.  Evaluation is based upon the Hay system and 
evaluations are carried out independently by the Korn Ferry Group including the 
Director of Public Health.   

 
Below Assistant Director level, the Council recognises that the demands on and 
accountabilities of different management roles vary considerably and seeks to align pay 
levels with the relative importance and responsibilities of jobs, using a process of job 
evaluation, and including Market Premia, where applicable, to match certain posts with the 
market rate for similar jobs.  There are, additionally, some posts which are on other national 
payscales such as the teaching payscales, NHS payscales or Soulbury conditions.  Some of 
the posts below Assistant Director level are specifically listed later in this report as earning 
more than £50,000 pa because they either receive a Market Premia payment or are subject 
to other national payscales. 
 
 
1.5 SPECIFIC REMUNERATION OFFERED TO SENIOR EMPLOYEES 
 
At Chief Executive, Executive Director and Assistant Director level, the Council offers only 
an annual salary and access to the Local Government Pension Scheme.  No other cash 

19



benefits or benefits in kind are offered - except any benefits purchased by the employee 
under the Council’s Flexible Benefits scheme under which all employees may purchase 
benefits from a range offered to all staff.  The only one of these benefits which gives an 
opportunity to increase income is the selling of annual leave, which is available to most 
employees but not to those at Assistant Director level and above (see section 4).  Other than 
the five Executive Director posts, the Council does not offer performance related payments 
or bonuses to its senior employees. 
 
Geographical/location allowance (local weighting) is not payable to the Chief Executive, 
Executive Directors or Assistant Directors. 
 
The Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Assistant Directors are not eligible to 
participate in the Council’s flexible leave scheme whereby employees are able to “buy and 
sell” annual leave within certain parameters (See section 4, below).  
 
Annual salaries 
Annual salary levels for senior employees are fixed in accordance with the overall principles 
set out in section 1.4.  At Chief Executive, Executive Director and Assistant Director level 
and for other senior managers, they consist of a grade range which is determined locally by 
the Council.  This grade range consists of several incremental salary points.  Progression 
through to the top of the grade is dependent on annual performance ratings, until the top of 
the grade is reached.  

 
Remuneration of senior employees on recruitment 
The Council’s policy is that any newly appointed senior employee will normally commence 
employment at the lowest pay point in the pay range for their job, other than when taking 
account of the successful applicant’s current salary and the market requirements.  Any 
decision to appoint a senior employee on a higher pay point within the relevant pay range 
would be made by the Appointments Committee.   

 
Pay progression  
 
Pay progression within a specific grade is normally by annual increment, payable from 1 
April, until the employee reaches the top pay point of their grade.  However, for employees 
at Executive Director grade and above progression is dependent on annual performance 
ratings. 
 
• Pay progression is based on the period the employee has served in that grade, subject 

to performance as evidenced by annual performance ratings.  
 
• Senior employees who are considered to have demonstrated exceptional performance 

may receive accelerated incremental progression within the grade at the discretion of the 
Chief Executive or relevant Executive Director or, in the case of the Chief Executive, at 
the discretion of the Leader of the Council. 

 
Pay awards 
The salaries of senior employees are reviewed annually in line with any pay award agreed in 
the Joint National Councils (JNCs) for Chief Executives/Chief Officers, the National Joint 
Council (NJC) for Local Government Services, NHS or Soulbury conditions, as appropriate 
for the contracts of the senior managers.  Periodic reassessments will benchmark the grades 
against market rates for similar roles in the region. 
 
Bonuses 
The Council does not pay bonuses to any of its employees. 
 

20



Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
The Council offers all its senior employees’ access to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme, in accordance with the statutory provisions of the scheme, on the same basis as all 
its employees.  Any pension payments made to its senior employees on termination of 
employment either on grounds of redundancy, in the interests of the efficiency of the service 
or on grounds of ill health are made within the statutory terms of the LGPS. 
 
• The employer’s contribution rate for senior employees who join the scheme is the same 

as for all other employees, as set out in Section 4 “POLICIES COMMON TO ALL 
EMPLOYEES” 

 
• The discretions which the Council can apply under the scheme upon termination of 

employment are the same for senior employees as for all other employees who are 
LGPS members and are set out in Section 4 “POLICIES COMMON TO ALL 
EMPLOYEES”. 
 

Payments on Termination of Employment 
Other than payments made under the LGPS, the Council’s payments to managers whose 
employment is terminated on grounds of redundancy or in the interests of the efficiency of 
the service will be in accordance with the policy the Council has adopted for all its 
employees in relation to the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006, as set out in Section 
4 “POLICIES COMMON TO ALL EMPLOYEES”. 
 
Other than payments pursuant to the LGPS (including the exercise of the Council’s 
discretions) or payments in accordance with the Council’s policies under the Local 
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2006, the Council’s policy is not to make any other termination 
payments to its senior employees.  The only exception to this, which is very rarely used, is 
where it has received specific legal advice to the effect that a payment is appropriate to 
settle proceedings in an Employment Tribunal or court of law or may be required to eliminate 
risk of claims against the Council.  A procedure is in place to deal with this which requires 
input from HR, Finance, Executive Director and the Chief Executive with any severance 
payment of £100,000 or more being referred to full Council for approval. 
 
Election fees 
Election fees are paid separately.  Returning Officer fees for national elections are set by 
central government.  Local election fees are paid in accordance with a scale of fees which is 
based on national election rates and agreed locally.  

 
1.6 RE-ENGAGEMENT OF SENIOR MANAGERS 

 
Re-engagement of Chief Executives, Executive Directors and Assistant Directors 
who have left Bracknell Forest Council with a severance or termination payment 
 
Re-engagement as employees 
(1) Subject to any relevant provisions in employment and equalities legislation, the 
Council’s policy is not to re-employ in any capacity any former Chief Executive, 
Executive Director or Assistant Director who was in receipt of a severance or termination 
payment for any reason other than compulsory redundancy, for a period of three years 
from the date of termination of employment. 

 
(2) Where a Chief Executive, Executive Director or Assistant Director’s employment has 
been terminated compulsorily on grounds of redundancy, they will not be re-employed in 
the same or a similar post for a period of three years following the date of termination of 

21



employment. If they are re-employed in another post within four weeks after the effective 
date of redundancy, they will lose their right to a redundancy payment, including any 
enhancements under the provisions of the LGPS or the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006.  Any re-employment will be subject to the Council following the strict 
application of the normal process of competitive selection for employment. New 
legislation has been introduced regarding a cap on Local Government exit payments. 
The cap includes introducing a limit on the salary used for redundancy calculations 
(£80,000) and ensuring the exit package does not exceed £95,000 (including pension 
strain costs). 

 
(3) Any former Chief Executive, Executive Director or Assistant Director who is 
employed by the Council who has previously received a severance, termination or 
redundancy payment from this or any other Council or related body will not have 
previous service counted when determining any further entitlements to notice periods, 
sickness payments, annual leave or other benefits/entitlements based on continuous 
service. 
 
Re-engagement under a contract for services 
The Council’s policy is not to re-engage under a contract for services any former Chief 
Executive, Executive Director or Assistant Director who left the Council for any reason 
and was in receipt of a redundancy, severance or termination payment, for a period of 
three years from the cessation of employment. 

 
Policy variation 
This re-engagement policy may be varied only in exceptional circumstances and then 
subject to the agreement of the Employment Committee. 
 
Employment of those in receipt of an LGPS pension 
 
General: 
Policy is set out in Section 4 POLICIES COMMON TO ALL EMPLOYEES. 
 
Flexible retirement: 
The LGPS regulations permit the Council to offer flexible retirement to employees 
(including Chief Executive, Executive Directors, Directors and Assistant Directors) aged 
55 or over, so that they can reduce their hours of work, and receive a pension in respect 
of the proportion of full-time hours they are no longer required to work.  This policy is set 
out in Section 4 POLICIES COMMON TO ALL EMPLOYEES. 
 

1.7 PUBLICATION OF DETAILS OF EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION  
 
In accordance with 39 (5) of the Localism Act, this policy will be published on the Council’s 
website.  
 
The Council is also required to publish information about the remuneration of senior officers 
under The Accounts and Audit (Amendment No. 2) (England) Regulations 2009, and the 
Local Government Transparency Code 2015. 
 
For ease of reference, remuneration data for posts identified under these Regulations is set 
out below, individual annual salaries  for staff in post can be found on the Council’s website. 
 
 
The table below indicates the grades at 1 December 2022. 
 

22



Chief Executive £174,256 - £189,814 
Executive Director - People £145,534 - £168,937 
Executive Director - Delivery £122,131 - £141,279 
Executive Director - Resources £122,131 - £141,279 
Executive Director: Place, Planning and 
Regeneration £122,131 - £141,279 

Director of Public Health £95,536 - £111,493 
Asst Director: Adult Social Care £95,536 - £111,493 
Asst Director: Children’s Social Care £95,536 - £111,493 
Asst Director: Early Help & Communities £95,536 - £111,493 
Asst Director: Education and Learning £95,536 - £111,493 
Asst Director: Commissioning £95,536 - £111,493 
Borough Solicitor £95,536 - £111,493 
Assistant Director: Mental Health & Out of 
Hours £95,536 - £111,493 

Asst Director: Contract Services £95,536 - £111,493 
Asst Director: Customer Experience, ICT & 
Digital Services £95,536 - £111,493 

Asst Director: Property £89,616 - £94,943  
Consultant in Public Health £89,616 - £94,943 
Assistant Director: HR and OD £82,973 - £89,616 
Assistant Director: Chief Executives Office £82,973 - £89,616 
Assistant Director: Special Projects £82,973 - £89,616 
Assistant Director: Highways and Transport £82,973 - £89,616 
Assistant Director: Planning £82,973 - £89,616 
Chief Accountant £82,973 - £89,616 
Head of Finance and Business Services £82,973 - £89,616 

 
Figures as at 1 December 2022 and are inclusive of supplements and/or market premia 
where payable.  Teaching staff not included. 
 
SECTION 2: REMUNERATION OF LOWEST PAID EMPLOYEES 
 
This section sets out the Council’s policies in relation to the remuneration of its lowest-paid 
employees, as defined in this Pay Policy Statement. 
 
2.1 ORGANISATIONAL CONTEXT 
 
The Council considers it is important that its policy with regard to the remuneration of its 
lowest paid employees is seen within the broader organisational context, in particular the 
range and diversity of services for which it is responsible, either directly or indirectly, the 
number of residents within the local community, the level of its financial responsibilities and 
the numbers of staff directly employed. 
 
2.2 OVERALL REMUNERATION POLICY: LOWEST PAID EMPLOYEES 
 
Aims, Objectives and Key Principles 
The Council aims to develop, implement and maintain fair and equitable remuneration 
arrangements which enable it to recruit, retain, motivate and develop staff with the skills and 

23



capabilities necessary to ensure the continued provision of high-quality services and which 
are cost effective and provide value for money.  
 
The Council’s remuneration policy complies with all equal pay, discrimination and other 
relevant employment legislation. 
 
When setting pay levels for specific posts the Council takes account of both internal 
differentials, as measured by job evaluation, and external relativities, as measured against 
the relevant employment market.  The Council aims to ensure its pay rates for specific posts 
are set at a level which enables it to recruit and retain staff with the appropriate knowledge, 
skills and capabilities necessary for the role. 
 
2.3 DEFINITION OF LOWEST PAID EMPLOYEES 
 
The definition of the “lowest-paid employees” adopted by the Council for the purposes of this 
statement is as follows: 
 
The lowest paid employees within the Council paid on the Council’s lowest hourly pay rate. 
 
The current annual full-time equivalent value of this pay level, based on a 37-hour standard 
working week and including local weighting, is £20,921.   
 
 
2.4 REMUNERATION OF LOWEST PAID EMPLOYEES  
 
Pay structure  
The Council’s lowest paid employees are on a grade range derived from the national pay 
spine, as set out in the National Joint Council for Local Government Services National 
Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service.  This grade range consists of a number of 
incremental salary points through which employees may progress until the top of the grade 
is reached.  
 
Pay Progression  
Pay progression is normally by annual increment, payable from 1 April. 
 
Pay progression is based on the period the employee has served in that grade, subject to 
satisfactory performance.  Directors may accelerate incremental progression within the 
grade for employees who are considered to have demonstrated exceptional performance. 
 
Annual Pay Review 
The basic pay of the Council’s lowest paid employees is reviewed annually at a national 
level, with any cost-of-living, or other, increase normally applied on 1 April in each year.   
 
Any increase will normally be applied in accordance with that agreed by the National Joint 
Council for Local Government Services.  
 
Pension Provision 
The Council’s lowest paid employees may participate in the Local Government Pension 
Scheme in accordance with the statutory terms of that scheme.  
 
Contributions are made to this scheme in respect of each participating employee as set out 
in Section 4, Policies Common to all Employees. 
 
Any increases in or enhancements to the pension entitlement of the Council’s lowest paid 
employees would be made in accordance with the discretions available to it under the 

24



statutory provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme, as exercised by the Council 
and set out in the relevant policy statement (see Section 4 of this Pay Policy Statement, 
Policies Common to all Employees).  
 
Termination or Severance Payments 
Any termination or severance payments made by the Council to its lowest paid employees, 
either on grounds of redundancy, in the interests of the efficiency of the service or on 
grounds of permanent ill-health, will be made in accordance with the statutory terms of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme, as applicable, and/or in accordance with the 
discretions available to it under that Scheme or under the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006, as set out in the relevant policy statement (see Section 4 of this Pay 
Policy Statement, Policies Common to all Employees).   
 
Other than payments pursuant to the LGPS (including the exercise of the Council’s 
discretions) or payments in accordance with the Council’s policies under the Local 
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 2006, the Council’s policy is not to make any other termination or 
severance payments to its lowest paid employees, other than where it has received specific 
legal advice to the effect that a payment may be necessary to eliminate risk of claims against 
the Council. 
 
Other elements of remuneration 
The other elements of remuneration which it is the Council’s policy to offer to its lowest paid 
employees (where applicable) are listed below and are as set out in section 4, “Policies 
common to all employees”: 
 

Recruitment/retention payments 
 

Reimbursement of removal/relocation costs/mortgage subsidy on appointment 
 

Geographical/location allowance (local weighting) 
 
Car allowances/mileage rates 
 
Payment of professional subscriptions or membership fees 
 
Subsistence or other expenses allowance 
 
Provision of mobile telephones/personal devices 
 
Honorarium/acting up/additional responsibility payments 
 
Payment for reduced leave entitlement  
 

 
 
 
In addition, the Council’s lowest paid employees may have access to the following payments 
where patterns of work make them appropriate: 
 
 

25



Working arrangements 
 
Employees on national conditions, who are required to work beyond the Council’s normal 
full-time equivalent working week of 37 hours and/or work other non-standard working 
patterns, as listed below, will receive payment in accordance with the provisions of the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services National Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service for: 
 
• Additional hours  
• Saturday and Sunday working  
• Night work  
• Public and Extra Statutory holidays  
• Sleeping-in duty 

 
 

Standby and/or call-out payments 
 

Employees who are required to be on standby at times which are outside their normal 
working week and/or who may be called-out to attend to an issue at the Council’s premises 
or other location may receive an additional payment in accordance with the provisions of the 
relevant Council policy. 
 
 
2.5 OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
The other terms and conditions which apply to the Council’s lowest paid employees are as 
set out in the National Joint Council for Local Government Services National Agreement on 
Pay and Conditions of Service, as amended and/or supplemented by any local agreements 
which may apply. 
 
2.6 REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES WHO ARE PAID MORE THAN THE LOWEST 
PAID EMPLOYEES BUT WHO ARE NOT ASSISTANT DIRECTORS 
 
The Council’s policy and practice with regard to the remuneration of employees who are paid 
more than its lowest paid employees but who are not Assistant Directors is the same as that 
which applies to its lowest paid employees, other than where any differences are indicated in 
this policy statement.  Some specific groups of employees are paid on nationally determined 
Soulbury Conditions or Youth and Community Conditions. 
 
2.7 EMPLOYEES WHO ARE PAID LESS THAN THE COUNCIL’S LOWEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES, AS DEFINED IN THIS PAY POLICY STATEMENT 
 
The following categories of employees may be paid less than the Council’s lowest paid 
employees, as defined in this Pay Policy Statement:  
 
• Apprentices 
• Some casual workers, who are not included in this statement 

 
The Council may apply a lower pay rate and/or different remuneration arrangements to these 
categories of employees, which reflects the nature and/or duration/frequency of their 
employment.   
 
 

26



SECTION 3: PAY RELATIONSHIPS 
 
This section sets out the Council’s overall approach to ensuring pay levels are fairly and 
appropriately dispersed across the organisation, including the current pay multiples which 
apply, and its policy toward maintaining acceptable pay multiples in the future.  
 
The Council believes that the principle of fair pay is important to the provision of high quality 
and well-managed services and is committed to ensuring fairness and equity in its 
remuneration practices.  The Council’s pay policies, processes and procedures are designed 
to ensure that pay levels are appropriately aligned with and properly reflect the relative 
demands and responsibilities of each post and the knowledge, skills and capabilities 
necessary to ensure they are undertaken to the required standard, as well as taking account 
of relevant market considerations.  This includes ensuring that there is an appropriate 
relationship between the pay levels of its senior officers, as defined in this Pay Policy 
Statement, and of all other employees. 
 
The Council has adopted several policies and practices to ensure fairness in the overall pay 
relativities within the Authority.  These include: 
 
• Using an analytical job evaluation scheme to determine the grading of all posts below 

Assistant Director level 
• Jobs at Assistant Director level and above are also subject to measurement using a 

separate job evaluation scheme – evaluated externally 
• Applying a clear and objective methodology for evaluating all new and changed jobs to 

ensure they are properly graded and that pay levels properly reflect their level of 
responsibility 

• Establishing a defined procedure for employees who wish to request a review of their job 
grade or who wish to appeal against their grading outcome 

• Providing for additional payments and allowances, with clearly defined eligibility criteria, 
to recognise and reward any working arrangements or requirements not reflected in 
basic pay levels 

• Undertaking corporate monitoring of the application of pay progression arrangements to 
ensure these are applied and operated on a fair and consistent basis across the 
organisation  

• Reviewing the roles and responsibilities of individual posts on a regular basis, for 
example, as part of the annual appraisal process, when a vacancy arises, as part of any 
organisational restructuring 

• Undertaking an equal pay audit at intervals, investigating and addressing the outcomes, 
as appropriate 

 
Under the provisions of the Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities on Data 
Transparency, issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government under 
Section 2 of the Local Government Planning and Land Act 1980, the Council is required to 
publish its “pay multiple”, i.e. the ratio between the highest paid salary and median full time 
equivalent salary of the whole of the local authority’s workforce.  The current pay multiple, 
based on full time equivalent earnings in the financial year ending 31 March 2022 including 
base salary, overtime pay, and any lump sum car allowances is 6.5 (Last year’s multiple was 
6.3). 
 
The figures are not a direct comparison because of the number of hours actually worked; for 
example, senior officers do not have a specific number of required work hours/week in their 
contract of employment and will often work more than the standard 37 hours used in non-
senior contracts. 

27



The median salary is the salary value at which 50% of the full-time equivalent salaries which 
apply to the whole of the Council’s workforce are below that salary value and 50% are above 
it.  The lowest pay point in the overall salary range which has been used by the Council in 
calculating the median salary is that which applies to its lowest paid employees, as defined 
in section 2 of this Pay Policy Statement. 
 
If the mean salary is used in the above calculations instead of the median, the pay multiple is 
5.8.  (Last year’s multiple based on mean was 5.5). 
 
The Council considers that the current pay multiple, as identified above, represents an 
appropriate, fair and equitable internal pay relationship between the highest salary and that 
which applies to the rest of the workforce and has adopted the following actions to ensure an 
acceptable level is maintained: 
 
Periodic benchmarking against the market rate for the Chief Executive will continue to take 
place and changes such as job evaluation outcomes or outsourcing of functions may impact 
on the median payment levels; both may affect the pay multiple.  However, the multiple will 
be reviewed annually by means of this document to ensure it remains acceptable. 
 
SECTION 4: POLICIES COMMON TO ALL EMPLOYEES  
 
The following elements of remuneration are determined by corporate policies or 
arrangements which apply to all permanent employees of the Council (including its Chief 
Executive, Executive Directors, Directors and Assistant Directors), regardless of their pay 
level, status or grading within the Council: 
 
Contracts of Employment 
It is the Council’s policy to engage all of its permanent employees on standard contracts of 
employment and to apply Pay As You Earn taxation arrangements to all remuneration under 
those contracts in accordance with HMRC rules. 

 
Access to Local Government Pension Scheme 
The Council offers all its employees’ access to the Local Government Pension Scheme in 
accordance with the statutory provisions of the scheme (except where the Teachers’ 
Pension Scheme applies). The employers’ contribution rate for employees who join the 
scheme is currently 15.5% of salary for all employees.  The employee contribution rate 
ranges from 5.5% to 12.5% dependent on salary.  All employees, including casuals and 
those on very short-term contracts, have a right to be in the scheme.   
 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) - discretions on termination of 
employment 
Any termination or severance payments made by the Council to all its employees, either on 
grounds of redundancy, in the interests of the efficiency of the service or on grounds of 
permanent ill-health, will be made in accordance with the statutory terms of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme, as applicable, and/or in accordance with the discretions 
available to it under that Scheme. 

 
The Council’s policies on the exercise of these discretions under the LGPS are set out in the 
policies it has published under the requirements of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations.  These are shown in Appendix A1. 
 
Payments on Termination of Employment 
Other than payments made under the LGPS, the Council’s payments to any employee 
whose employment is terminated on grounds of redundancy or in the interests of the 
efficiency of the service will be in accordance with the policy the Council has adopted for all 

28



its employees in relation to the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006.  This policy has been 
published in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 7 of these regulations and, in 
summary, is: 
 
• Actual weekly pay is used in all redundancy calculations 
• Those with immediate access to pension are paid in accordance with the statutory 

number of weeks’ pay 
• Those with no immediate access to pension are paid 1.75 times the statutory number of 

weeks’ pay 
 

Employment of those in receipt of an LGPS pension   
Subject to the administering authority’s policy, pension benefits built up under regulations in 
force prior to 1 April 2014 (i.e., final salary benefits) may be subject to abatement where an 
individual in receipt of such a pension is re-employed.  However, the policy of the 
administering authority to the Berkshire Pension Fund is not to abate pensions in these 
circumstances. 

 
The only occasion where a re-employed pensioner may suffer some abatement to their 
pension is where they have previously been awarded compensatory added years in 
accordance with regulations 16 or 19 of the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England & Wales) Regulations 2000. 

 
Flexible retirement 
The LGPS regulations permit the Council to offer flexible retirement to employees aged 55 or 
over, so that they can reduce their hours of work, and draw a pension in respect of the 
proportion of full-time hours they are no longer required to work.  The Council uses this 
discretion in the same way for all employees.  The Council will consider requests for flexible 
retirement on a case-by-case basis. Approval will be sought through the Employment 
Committee for any flexible retirement where there is a cost to the Council, and all costs and 
business benefits will be made explicit before any decision is taken on whether to grant 
flexible retirement.  Where the flexible retirement is at no cost to the Council, it may be 
granted by an Executive Director, considering the business benefits. 

 
Market Premia 
The job evaluation scheme does not recognise market pay rates when determining the 
grade for a job.  If Directors identify market scarcity through difficulty with recruitment and/or 
a lack of success with advertising, they may discuss the need for a market premium with the 
Assistant Director: HR and Organisational Development who will seek approval through 
CMT or Employment Committee as appropriate.  

 
Recruitment/retention payments 
Recruitment payments are a recruitment incentive which can be used for positions where 
there is a nation/regional/local shortage of qualified persons.  They are used to induce an 
individual to take up employment within the Council and are in the form of a one-off lump 
sum.  These are infrequently used and are repayable on a sliding scale if the individual 
leaves within 3 years of appointment. 

 
Key staff retention payments may be given where it is important to retain the services of an 
employee to the end of a specific project.  The period of tie in will not normally exceed three 
years and any lump sum payment will not be made if the employee leaves before the 
relevant date.  Employees in some children’s social work teams and Approved Mental Health 
Practitioners are currently in receipt of retention payments as part of strategies to retain 
these key staff in a recruitment shortage area. 

29



 
Geographical/location allowance (local weighting) 
The Council applies London and Fringe Area Allowances in accordance with the provisions 
of and rates agreed by the National Joint Council for Local Government Services National 
Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service, or Soulbury or Youth and Community 
Conditions as appropriate.  There are certain employees whose pay is determined locally 
who do not receive this type of allowance, and it is not payable to the Chief Executive, 
Executive Directors or Assistant Directors. 
 
Reimbursement of removal/relocation costs on appointment 
The Relocation Scheme provides assistance to people moving house in order to take up an 
appointment with the Council.  The scheme will not necessarily cover the full expenses of 
moving and is not intended to do so.  The maximum amount payable under the relocation 
scheme is £8,000, plus mortgage subsidy where appropriate. The scheme does not apply to 
all advertised roles, only to those where there is less likelihood of recruiting suitable staff 
locally.   
 
Honorarium or ex gratia payments/acting up/additional responsibility allowances 
The Council pays honoraria or ex gratia payments to employees only in accordance with its 
corporate scheme for such payments, and all such payments are made only with the 
express approval of the relevant Executive Director.  Where employees are required to “act-
up” into a higher-graded post or take on additional responsibilities beyond those of their 
substantive post for a temporary/time-limited period, they may receive an additional 
payment.  Merit payments are like honoraria payments but are generally paid as a “one off” 
sum.  They can be for a variety of reasons including examination success or for a 
particularly demanding or meritorious piece of work. 

 
Car provision – employees using their own cars on Council business 
The Council compensates: 

  
• Employees who are required to use their own car on Council business paying an 

Essential Car User payment of £963pa plus mileage at below the HMRC rate; and 
 
• Employees who are otherwise authorised to use their own car on Council business by 

paying a casual user mileage rate based on the HMRC rate. 
 
 Payment of professional subscriptions or membership fees 
The Council will pay one professional subscription or membership fee on behalf of any 
employee where the subscription or membership is appropriate to the duties of the post. 

 
Subsistence or other expenses allowance 
The Council reimburses expenditure on meals and overnight accommodation and any other 
expenses necessarily incurred by employees on Council business, in line with the Council’s 
Expenses policy.  

 
 

Flexible benefits 
The Council offers a range of flexible benefits which enable employees to elect to buy 
certain benefits from their salary.  The only part of the range which enables employees to 
increase their pay is a flexible leave scheme whereby employees can “buy and sell” annual 
leave within certain parameters.  Under this scheme, employees may be able to receive a 
day’s additional pay for each day of leave they “sell” to the Council and agree to work.  
Assistant Directors and above may not participate in this scheme, although they may elect 
to buy other flexible benefits in the range.  The maximum number of days that can be sold is 
5 (pro rata for those working less than 5 days per week.) 

30



 
Provision of mobile telephones and personal devices 
Chief Executive, Directors and Assistant Directors are issued with mobile phones and are 
required to be on an emergency duty list, other staff are issued phones in accordance with 
their workstyle in order to be more effective.  Usually this means that Free workers will be 
issued with a mobile phone.  The council funds the phone. 
 
All employees working flexibly are issued with a softphone and a business case needs to be 
made if a mobile phone/device is required in addition to this. 

 
SECTION 5: CONTRACTORS AND OTHER ORGANISATIONS WORKING FOR THE 
COUNCIL 
 
There may be occasions where the Council procures, commissions or contracts-out one or 
more of the services for which it is responsible.  This section sets out the Council’s approach 
to and policies on the pay policies of contractors, partners and other organisations who may 
undertake work for, or on behalf of, the Council. 
 
The terms and conditions of employment by contractors of their workers are non-commercial 
matters, so we are required to procure without reference to them (S17 (1) and (5) LGA 
1988). 
 
Where any of the Council’s services are contracted-out or re-tendered or where a previously 
outsourced service returns to the Council, any matters relating to the remuneration of the 
transferred employees will be managed, as appropriate, in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 as 
amended by the Collective Redundancies and Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) (Amendment) Regulations 2014. 
 
Any payments to agency workers who may undertake work for the Council will be made in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract between the Council and the 
relevant agency provider, having due regard to the relevant provisions of the Agency 
Workers Regulations 2010 and any other relevant employment legislation.  
 
SECTION 6: DECISION MAKING ON PAY 
 
The Council recognises the importance of ensuring openness, transparency and high 
standards of corporate governance, with clear lines of accountability, in its pay decision-
making processes and procedures.  Any pay-related decisions must be capable of public 
scrutiny, be able to demonstrate proper and appropriate use of public funds and ensure 
value for money.  The arrangements adopted by the Council are designed to reflect these 
requirements, as well as ensuring compliance with all relevant legislation and other statutory 
regulation. 
 
The Council has agreed that the following roles and responsibilities about decision-making in 
remuneration matters will apply within the Authority as follows: 
 
Full Council: consideration and approval of the annual Pay Policy Statement, as required 
under the Localism Act 2011.  Approval of both the senior salary pay structure, within which 
senior appointments are made, and the severance policy, within which severance payments 
are made.  Approval of any salary or severance payment over £100,000 which is not 
consistent with these policies. 
 

31



Employment Committee: responsible for decisions relating to changes to terms and 
conditions of employment other than those dictated by employment law/statute, including 
scrutiny of this statement. 
 
The provisions of this Pay Policy Statement will apply to any determination made by the 
Council in the relevant financial year in relation to the remuneration or other terms and 
conditions of senior officers of the Authority and of its lowest paid employees, as defined in 
this statement, and other employees who are paid more than the lowest paid employees but 
who are not senior officers.  
 
The Council will ensure that the provisions of this Pay Policy Statement are properly applied 
and fully complied with in making any such determination. 
 
This Pay Policy Statement will be taken through Full Council for approval.  
 
The full Council will approve the appointment or dismissal of the Chief Executive (Head of 
Paid Service) following the recommendation of such an appointment by a Committee or Sub-
Committee of the Council, which will include at least one Member of the Executive.  Council 
will resolve that the post is remunerated in accordance with the Senior Salary Pay Structure. 
 
For Executive Director posts, unless otherwise directed by the Council, a Committee or Sub-
Committee of the Council, the Council will appoint.  The Committee or Sub-Committee will 
include at least one Member of the Executive.  Council will resolve that the post is 
remunerated in accordance with the Senior Salary Pay Structure. 
 
For Assistant Director posts, the Chief Executive or his nominated representative, with the 
relevant Executive Member or members and the Leader of the Council, may determine 
whether any appointment to an Assistant Director post is to be made exclusively from the 
Council’s existing officers.  Where the Chief Executive or his or her nominated 
representative, determines that it is to be made from existing Officers, the appointment may 
be made by the Chief Executive or his/her representative.  Where a recruitment process is 
undertaken involving external candidates, a Committee or Sub-Committee will be appointed 
to interview the shortlisted candidates and make the final appointment.  That Committee or 
Sub Committee will include at least one member of the Executive. 
 
The above arrangements ensure that the Council meets the requirement of the Localism Act 
that any proposal to offer a new appointment on terms and conditions which include a total 
remuneration package of £100,000 or more, including salary, bonuses, fees or allowances 
which would routinely be payable to the appointee and any benefits in kind to which the 
officer would be entitled as a result of their employment (but excluding employer’s pension 
contributions), will be referred to the full Council for approval before any confirmed offer is 
made to a particular candidate, if they fall outside the scope of the agreed senior salary pay 
scales. 
 
 

32



SECTION 7: AMENDMENTS TO THIS PAY POLICY STATEMENT 
 
This Pay Policy Statement relates to policy for the financial year 2023/24. 
 
The Council may agree any amendments to this Pay Policy Statement during the financial 
year to which it relates in accordance with the decision-making arrangements set out in the 
introduction to this document. 
 
 
SECTION 8: PUBLICATION OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
 
The Council will publish this Pay Policy Statement on its website as soon as is reasonably 
practicable after it has been approved by the Council.  Any subsequent amendments to this 
Pay Policy Statement made during the financial year to which it relates will also be similarly 
published. 
 
The information advised to be published by the Council in accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Government Transparency Code 2014 and in accordance with the requirements 
of the Accounts and Audit (Amendment No. 2) (England) Regulations 2009, as referred to in 
this Pay Policy Statement, is also available on its website. 
 
The Council’s policies in relation to the exercise of discretions under the Local Government 
(Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006 and under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, are 
set out in this policy statement. 
 
For further information about this Pay Policy Statement, please contact the Council as 
follows: 
 
 
Paul Young  
Assistant Director: HR and Organisational Development 
paul.young@Bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
 

33

mailto:paul.young@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


Appendix A1 
EMPLOYER DISCRETIONS 

PART A – Formulation of COMPULSORY policy in accordance with Regulation 60 of 
the 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
  

Regulation 16 – Additional Pension Contributions  
 
The Scheme employer may resolve to fund in whole or in part any arrangement entered into 
by an active scheme member to pay additional pension contributions by way of regular 
contributions in accordance with Regulation 16(2)(e), or by way of a lump sum in 
accordance with Regulation 16(4)(d). 
 
The Scheme employer may enter into an APC contract with a Scheme member who is 
contributing to the MAIN section of the Scheme in order to purchase additional pension of 
not more than the additional pension limit (£6,500 from 1st April 2014 subject to annual 
increase in line with the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971). 
 
The amount of additional contribution to be paid is determined by reference to actuarial 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 
 
Consideration needs to be given to the circumstances under which the Scheme employer 
may wish to use their discretion to fund in whole or in part an employee’s Additional Pension 
Contributions. 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the whole or part funding of an active 
member’s additional pension contributions 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved not to adopt this discretion 
  
 
Regulation 30(6) – Flexible Retirement  
 
An active member who has attained the age of 55 or over and who with the agreement of 
their employer reduces their working hours or grade of employment may, with the further 
consent of their employer, elect to receive immediate payment of all or part of the retirement 
pension to which they would be entitled in respect of that employment as if that member 
were no longer an employee in local government service on the date of the reduction in 
hours or grade (adjusted by the amount shown as appropriate in actuarial guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State – separate policy required under Regulation 30(8)). 
 
As part of the policy making decision the Scheme employer must consider whether, in 
addition to the benefits the member may have accrued prior to 1 April 2008 (which the 
member must draw), to permit the member to choose to draw all, part or none of the pension 
benefits they built up after 31 March 2008 and before 1 April 2014 and all, part of none of the 
pension benefits they built up after 1 April 2014. 
 
Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of allowing an employee to 
draw all or part of their pension benefits earlier than their normal retirement age. 
 
 

34



Scheme Employer’s policy concerning flexible retirement 
 
The Employing Authority will consider requests for flexible retirement on a case by 
case basis.  Approval will be sought through the Employment Committee where all 
costs and benefits will be explicit; requests which carry no costs to the Employing 
Authority will be dealt with by officers and reported back to the Committee. 
  
 
Regulation 30(8) – Waiving of Actuarial Reduction  
 
Where a Scheme employer’s policy under regulation 30(6) (flexible retirement) is to consent 
to the immediate release of benefits in respect of an active member who is aged 55 or over, 
those benefits must be adjusted by an amount shown as appropriate in actuarial guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State (commonly referred to as actuarial reduction or early 
payment reduction). 
 
A Scheme employer (or former employer as the case may be) may agree to waive in whole 
or in part and at their own cost, any actuarial reduction that may be required by the Scheme 
Regulations. 
 
Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of agreeing to waive in whole 
or in part any actuarial reduction. 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the waiving of actuarial reduction 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved to examine such issues on a case by case 
basis. 
  
  
 
Regulation 31 – Award of Additional Pension  
 
A Scheme employer may resolve to award 
 

(a) an active member, or  
(b) a member who was an active member but dismissed by reason of redundancy, or 
business efficiency, or whose employment was terminated by mutual consent on 
grounds of business efficiency, 
 

additional annual pension of, in total (including any additional pension purchased by the 
Scheme employer under Regulation 16), not more than the additional pension limit (£6,500 
from 1st April 2014 subject to annual increase in line with the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971). 
 
Any additional pension awarded is payable from the same date as any pension payable 
under other provisions of the Scheme Regulations from the account to which the additional 
pension is attached. 
 
In the case of a member falling within sub-paragraph (b) above, the resolution to award 
additional pension must be made within 6 months of the date that the member’s employment 
ended. 
 
 

35



Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the award of additional pension 
 
The Employing Authority resolves to use the scheme for awarding additional pension 
in cases of redundancy, efficiency of the service and severance, only in exceptional 
circumstances. 
  
 
Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions and Savings) 
Regulations 2014 
 
Schedule 2 – paragraphs 2 and 3  
 
Where a scheme member retires or leaves employment and elects to draw their benefits at 
or after the age of 55 and before the age of 60 those benefits will be actuarially reduced 
unless their Scheme employer agrees to meet the full or part cost of those reductions as a 
result of the member otherwise being protected under the 85 year rule as set out in previous 
Regulations. 
 
So as to avoid the member suffering the full reduction to their benefits the Scheme employer 
can ‘switch on’ the 85 year rule protections thereby allowing the member to receive fully or 
partly unreduced benefits but subject to the Scheme employer paying a strain (capital) cost 
to the Pension Fund 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the ‘switching on of the 85 year rule 
 
The Employing Authority resolves not to adopt this discretion. 
 
 
  

PART B – Formulation of RECOMMENDED policy in accordance with the 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
  
 
Regulation 9(1) & (3) – Contributions  
 
Where an active member changes employment or there is a material change which affects 
the member’s pensionable pay during the course of a financial year, the Scheme employer 
may determine that a contribution rate from a different band (as set out in Regulation 9(2)) 
should be applied. 
 
Where the Scheme employer makes such a determination it shall inform the member of the 
revised contribution rate and the date from which it is to be applied. 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the re-determination of active members’ 
contribution bandings at any date other than 1st April 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved to make changes to employee contribution 
rates throughout the year from the effective date of any change in employment or 
material change to the rate of pensionable pay received.  
 
  
 
 

36



Regulation 17(1) – Additional Voluntary Contributions  
 
An active member may enter into arrangements to pay additional voluntary contributions 
(AVCs) or to contribute to a shared cost additional voluntary contribution arrangement 
(SCAVCs) in respect of an employment.  The arrangement must be a scheme established 
between the appropriate administering authority and a body approved for the purposes of 
the Finance Act 2004, registered in accordance with that Act and administered in 
accordance with the Pensions Act 2004. 
 
The Scheme employer needs to determine whether or not it will make contributions to such 
an arrangement on behalf of its active members. 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning payment of Shared Cost Additional Voluntary 
Contributions 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved not to adopt this discretion 
 
     
 
Regulation 22 – Merging of Deferred Member Pension Accounts with Active Member 
Pension Accounts  
 
A deferred member’s pension account is automatically aggregated with their active 
member’s pension account unless the member elects within the first 12 months of the new 
active member’s pension account being opened to retain their deferred member’s pension 
account. 
 
A Scheme employer can, at their discretion, extend the 12 month election period. 
 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning merging of Deferred Member Pension 
Accounts with Active Member Pension Accounts 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved not to extend the 12 month election period 
 
     
 
Regulation 100(6) – Inward Transfers of Pension Rights  
 
A request from an active member to transfer former pension rights from a previous 
arrangement into the Local Government Pension Scheme as a result of their employment 
with a Scheme employer must be made in writing to the administering authority and the 
Scheme employer before the expiry of the period of 12 months beginning with the date on 
which the employee first became an active member in an employment (or such longer period 
as the Scheme employer and administering authority may allow). 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning the extension of the 12 month transfer 
application period 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved to examine such issues on a case by case 
basis 
 
     
 

37



Regulation 21(5) – Assumed Pensionable Pay 
 
A Scheme employer needs to determine whether or not to include in the calculation of 
assumed pensionable pay, any ‘regular lump sum payment’ received by a Scheme member 
in the 12 months preceding the date that gave rise to the need for an assumed pensionable 
pay figure to be calculated. 
 
Scheme Employer’s policy concerning inclusion of ‘regular lump sum payments’ in 
assumed pensionable pay calculations 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved that “Regular lump sum payments” will always 
be included in the calculation of assumed pensionable pay 
     
 
Regulation 74 – Applications for Adjudication of Disagreements (see guidance note 9 in 
employer’s guide) 
 
Each Scheme employer must appoint a person (“the adjudicator”) to consider applications 
from any person whose rights or liabilities under the Scheme are affected by: 
 

(a) a decision under regulation 72 (first instance decisions); or  
 
(b) any other act or omission by a Scheme employer or administering authority, 

 
and to make a decision on such applications. 
 
Responsibility for determinations under this first stage of the Internal Disputes Resolution 
Procedure (IDRP) rests with “the adjudicator” as named below by the Scheme employer: 
 
Name:  Susan Halliwell 

Job Title: Chief Executive 

Full Address: Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell 

Post Code: RG12 1JD 

Tel No: 

 01344 355609 

 
Adjudicator’s Signature:   
 
Date:   
 
Or alternatively: 
Name:  Stuart McKellar 

Job Title: Director of Resources 

Full Address: Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell 

Post Code: RG12 1JD 

Tel No: 

 01344 355605 

 
Adjudicator’s Signature:   

38



 
Date:      

APPENDIX B1 – EMPLOYER DISCRETIONS: INJURY ALLOWANCE 

Formulation of COMPULSORY policy in accordance with Regulation 14 of the 

Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 
  
 
Regulation 3 - Reduction in remuneration 
 
Whilst an employee is receiving reduced pay as a direct result of an injury or disease 
contracted in the course of carrying out their employment, a relevant employer may consider 
paying the employee an allowance while the reduction in pay continues. 
 
The relevant employer shall from time to time determine whether the employee should be 
entitled to continue to receive the allowance. 
 
Any allowance payable must be paid directly by the relevant employer and, when added to 
the value of the reduced pay being received by the employee, must not be of a value that 
means the employee receives total pay in excess of the pay that they would normally expect 
to have received but for their injury or disease. 
 
Employer’s policy concerning the award of an allowance due to reduction in 
remuneration 
 
The Employing Authority has resolved to examine such issues on a case by case 
basis in line with its existing Standing Orders. 
  
 
Regulation 4 – Loss of employment through permanent incapacity 
 
Where an employee ceases employment due to permanent incapacity as a direct result of 
injury or disease contracted in the course of carrying out their employment, a relevant 
employer may consider paying the employee an allowance not exceeding 85 per cent of the 
employee’s annual rate of remuneration at the point the employment ceased. 
 
The relevant employer shall from time to time determine whether the employee should be 
entitled to continue to receive the allowance. 
 
Any allowance payable must be paid directly by the relevant employer and, where the 
employee was receiving no pay or reduced pay at the time the employment ended because 
of absence, the employer must assess the remuneration on the basis of the pay the 
employee would have received but for being absent. 
 
The relevant employer may suspend or discontinue the allowance if the (former) employee 
secures gainful employment (paid employment for not less than 30 hours in each week for a 
period of not less than 12 months). 
 
Employer’s policy concerning the award of an allowance due to loss of employment 
 
The Employing Authority resolves not to adopt this discretion. 
  

39



This page is intentionally left blank



To: EMLOYMENT COMMITTEE  
8 February 2023 

  
 

HR POLICY REVIEW – SUBSTANCE MISUSE POLICY   
Executive Director of Resources   

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The Human Resources team are undertaking a review of the HR policies with a view 
to updating and, where applicable, rationalising the number required. A schedule has 
been established to undertake this work resulting in a revision to the Substance 
Misuse Policy.    

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Employment Committee review and agree the revised policy for 
Substance Misuse.  

3 Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

3.1 To enable revised policies to be provided to assist managers throughout the Council 
in effectively managing and, where necessary, support their workforce and to comply 
with legal requirements and best practice. 

4 Alternative Options Considered 

4.1 To retain the existing policies and ignoring the updates provided for this review.   

5 Supporting Information 

5.1 It is recognised that the HR policies require review to ensure they remain up to date, 
follow best practice, effectively support managers in dealing with often complex 
cases and cover the Council’s legal duties. As a result, a schedule has been 
established to review the current HR policies some of which have not been reviewed 
for some time.  

5.2  The revised schedule has been established to prioritise those policies where there 
have been challenges to implement or where there has been a clear business case 
to do so. Policies for Domestic Abuse and Violence and Abuse at Work have been 
those most recently been updated and implemented.   

5.2 The process for reviewing the policies has included engagement with stakeholders 
across the Council and trade unions. The future development for this activity will 
include establishing a sub-group of the Workforce Board to facilitate engagement 
across the Council so the pressures and challenges of each subject area can be 
considered.   

5.3 The following amendments have been made to the policy: 

• Equality section amended  
• Amendment to scope 
• Addition of guidance for managers if an employee discloses a substance 

misuse problem (Section 6.3) 
• Addition of a section on Support available for employees (Section 6.5) 

41

Agenda Item 8



5.5 It is recognised that the policy and procedure alone does not provide the confidence 
and competence to manage workforce situations. The HR/OD Team will be 
supporting the effective management of these procedures through a programme of 
development for managers.  

6 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

6.1 As a responsible employer it is incumbent upon the Council to ensure that it has in 
place policies and procedures which provide a framework for enabling it to discharge 
its legal responsibilities in the field of employment law. These responsibilities are 
framed around a need to ensure employees have access to fair and transparent 
processes HR processes. The updated policies provide a framework for decision 
making which (when followed) will mitigate the risk of successful legal challenges. 

Financial Advice 

6.2 Not required for this paper 

Other Consultation Responses 

6.3 The policies have been through a consultation exercise with trade unions. Any 
comments or suggestions received have either been incorporated into the policy or an 
explanation provided as to why it was felt inappropriate to do so.  

  
Engagement with the unions around drinking at work led to the response that the 
rules around alcohol consumption could be open to interpretation. Their 
recommendation would be to have a zero-tolerance policy on alcohol consumption 
during work hours, with specific exemptions for entertaining from the director. 
The Head of the Drug and Alcohol Service believed there should be zero tolerance 
enforcement on work premises but attempting to enforce this for lunch breaks would 
lead to challenges of enforcement and implementation.   
Groups across the Council have had the opportunity to consider and comment on the 
policies including the Equalities Group.  

Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.4 The performance of these policies is monitored and included with the annual 
workforce monitoring report.   

Strategic Risk Management Issues  

6.5 The policies being presented could have a significant impact on the Council where 
either poor people management or failure to follow due process could present legal 
challenges. This is aside the personal impact this can have on either individuals or 
wider teams where these important areas are not addressed well.   

 

 

 

42



 

Climate Change Implications 

6.6 The recommendations in Section 2 above are expected to have no impact on 
emissions of CO2. 

The reasons the Council believes that this will have no impact on emissions are the 
fact that these are employment procedures in place to support attendance and fair 
treatment for staff at work.  

Health & Wellbeing Considerations 

6.7 It is recognised that implementation of these procedures can created significant 
challenges for all staff involved. It is essential that consideration for the health and 
wellbeing for staff is always considered and the appropriate support is provided 
including involvement with occupational health. 

 In the very few cases where staff have been challenged with alcohol or drug addiction, 
the approach of the council has been to provide support and guidance for the 
employee.  

 

  

Background Papers 
 
Substance Misuse Policy 
 
Contact for further information 
Paul Young, Human Resources and Organisational Development, Resources Department  
Paul.young@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Substance Misuse Policy 
February 2023 

 

 
  
 
 

 
 

Substance Misuse Policy 
 
 

 
 
Document Control 

Current Version: 2.0 Date 
Modified: December 2022 

Revision due The service aims to review policies and procedures every two 
years to ensure documents are up to date 

Owning Service Human Resources 
 

Approvals (if required) 
Date Employment Committee gave authorisation for changes (where 
necessary) 
Not applicable  

 

Change History 

Version Date Description Changes 
made by 

2.0 Dec 2022 

New template 
Equality section amended  
Amendment to scope 
Addition of guidance for managers if an 
employee discloses a substance misuse 
problem (Section 6.3) 
Addition of a section on Support available 
for employees (Section 6.5) 
 

Melissa Berry 

1.1 March 
2019 No significant changes Melissa Berry 

 
 
  

45



Substance Misuse Policy 
February 2023 

Contents 
1 INTRODUCTION ...................................................................................................1 

2 EQUALITY ............................................................................................................1 

3 PURPOSE .............................................................................................................1 

4 PRINCIPLES .........................................................................................................2 

5 SCOPE ..................................................................................................................3 

6 MANAGEMENT ADVICE AND GUIDANCE .........................................................3 

6.1 Rules regarding Consuming Drugs and Alcohol and other Substance 

Misuse .......................................................................................................................3 

6.2 Indications of Substance Misuse ...................................................................4 

6.3 Guidance for Managers on raising the issue of substance misuse ................4 

6.4 Employees Attending Work Under the Influence of Alcohol, Drugs or Other 

Substances ...............................................................................................................5 

6.5 Employee Support Available ..........................................................................6 

6.6 On-going Support/Treatment .........................................................................6 

6.8 Substance Misuse Outside Work/Socially .....................................................6 

6.9 Team social events ........................................................................................7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



Substance Misuse Policy 
December 2022 Page 1 
  

 
BRACKNELL FOREST COUNCIL’S 

SUBSTANCE MISUSE POLICY 
 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
The Council wishes to help employees to confront and tackle substance abuse issues 
where fear of reprisals may make an individual hesitate to come forward for help.  It is 
therefore important that managers do not automatically resort to using the Disciplinary 
or Performance Improvement/Capability procedures where a dependency problem is 
involved, but will do so when; health and safety, service delivery or the image of the 
Council is seriously compromised.  In all cases, the line manager should treat the 
person’s dependency problem firmly but with sympathy and attempt, wherever 
possible, to get the individual to seek help. 
 
2 EQUALITY  
 
At Bracknell Forest Council we are committed to encouraging equality, diversity and 
inclusion among our workforce, and eliminating unlawful discrimination.  We want 
everyone that works for us to feel that their individuality is respected, and their unique 
contributions are valued. 
 
The aim is for our workforce to be truly representative of all sections of society and our 
customers, and for each employee to feel respected and able to give their best.  
 
The organisation - in providing goods and/or services and/or facilities - is also 
committed against unlawful discrimination of customers or the public. 
 
3 PURPOSE 
 
Bracknell Forest Council has a duty as an employer to take reasonable care of 
employees and provide a safe and healthy working environment.  The Council is 
committed to raising employees’ awareness of the dangers of alcohol, drug and 
substance misuse, which often has a medical context.  By making this policy widely 
available to all employees it will fully support and encourage employees who are 
affected by misuse to seek help.  
 
Alcohol, drugs substance dependency can affect attendance, work ability, work 
performance and the safety of employees and others.  Helping the employee is a high 
priority, but safety in the workplace and the maintenance of quality services are equally 
important.  This policy sets out a framework for addressing these concerns.  It also sets 
out the basic expectations of the Council in relation to; drugs, alcohol and substance 
misuse in the workplace. Given the agile working arrangements it should be 
recocgnised that the workplace will incorporate times where staff are working from 
home. Where reference is given to work time this will include those occasions where an 
employee is working from home.    
 
Under what is known as the common law duty of care, all employers must take 
reasonable care of employees, or they may be able to bring a claim of negligence. If an 
employer allows an employee to continue to work when under the influence of drugs, 
alcohol or substances, there is, at the very least, a risk that the duty of care may be 

47



Substance Misuse Policy 
December 2022 Page 2 
  

breached.  The employer may be vicariously liable for the negligence of the intoxicated 
employee. 
 
Employees have an individual legal responsibility in relation to their colleagues and 
their own health and safety.  They could be sued for negligence, along with the 
employer, if they fail to carry out their work with reasonable care due to being under the 
influence of alcohol, drugs or substances, and cause damage or injury as a result.  

 
4 PRINCIPLES  
 
Bracknell Forest Council recognises that alcohol, drug and substance misuse could be 
considered an illness and will be treated in the same way as other health matters. 
However, where alcohol, drug and substance misuse persist or employees do not take 
the agreed actions to address their substance misuse, performance and/or disciplinary 
issues may also need to be addressed. 
 
Employees who have developed a dependency on alcohol, or other substances, and 
whose work is affected, are encouraged to make a disclosure to their line managers 
and to seek early help and counselling see section 6.5 below. 
 
The Council has a duty to set standards of conduct for employees, and behaviour 
associated with alcohol and/or substance abuse may be regarded as misconduct and 
mean employees are liable to disciplinary action.  This policy identifies the importance 
of addressing both health and conduct issues through the appropriate Council 
procedures. 
 
At its most serious level, misuse of alcohol or other substances can seriously put at risk 
an individual’s personal safety, that of other employees and any other person with 
whom they come into contact. Disregard for personal safety and that of others; 
disobedience associated with any safety instruction; and unacceptable behaviour in the 
workplace, are examples of matters of misconduct which will normally be addressed 
through the Council’s disciplinary procedure. However, where this is due to alcohol, 
drugs or other substances, the Council may suspend disciplinary action on condition 
that the employee follows a suitable course of action. 
 
Many employees come into direct contact, either face to face or by telephone, with 
Council customers.  Employees in contact with the public have a personal responsibility 
to maintain the Council’s reputation, which must not be impaired by behaviour 
associated with alcohol, drugs or substance misuse.  It is important to emphasise that 
even a relatively small amount of alcohol consumed by an employee may be apparent 
to the customer and may present a negative image of the Council.  Also, it may lead to 
the impairment of working relationships.  Likewise, employees who use recreational 
drugs ‘socially’ at weekends and such activity is posted on social media, discussed 
openly in a work setting may be subject to disciplinary action.   
 
Any contact with the Staff Counselling Service/Employee Assistant Programme will 
remain confidential.  Occupational Health will report back to management within the 
rules of medical confidentiality.  Departmental managers will maintain confidentiality as 
far as is compatible with protecting health and safety and the delivery of services.   
 
 
 

48



Substance Misuse Policy 
December 2022 Page 3 
  

5 SCOPE  
 
This procedure applies to all employees of Bracknell Forest Council, with the exception 
of: 

• School based staff (see separate School policy) 
 

6 MANAGEMENT ADVICE AND GUIDANCE  
 
6.1 Rules regarding Consuming Drugs and Alcohol and other Substance 

Misuse  
 
No consumption of alcohol/non-prescription drugs or other substances is allowed while 
an employee is at work or on work premises, other than alcohol which is permitted on 
occasions by agreement with the relevant Director.  These will be restricted to social 
occasions and meetings involving external participants and will normally be outside 
working time. 
 
Employees must report to work fit to perform their duties and in a condition which is 
acceptable to management, colleagues, and customers. Being under the influence of 
alcohol or drugs or other substances is not acceptable.  Employees on medication 
prescribed by their doctor must notify their line manager and, through the manager, 
Occupational Health if necessary if there is a likelihood that the medication could affect 
job performance or safety of themselves or others.  Appropriate measures can then be 
taken, and Occupational Health can advise on the likely effects of the medication. 
 
Drugs, alcohol or substance dependency is not in itself misconduct. Employees will be 
supported to access the appropriate treatment and consideration given to reasonable 
adjustments and support to facilitate this treatment.  However, if despite this treatment 
and support performance, attendance or behaviour continue to be unacceptable, the 
disciplinary or capability process will be followed which could ultimately lead to 
dismissal.   
 
In situations where employees are found in possession, or under the influence of non 
prescription drugs on Council premises, the Council may inform the Police. In some 
circumstances, it may also be necessary to report criminal behaviour associated with 
alcohol abuse, e.g., drink driving. 
 
6.2 Indications of Substance Misuse 
 
Alcohol, drug or substance misuse may be suspected, if one of the following signs is 
observed.  It should be noted that these signs are not exhaustive, nor on their own 
would they indicate alcohol or substance misuse as they may be caused by other 
conditions including stress or underlying medical conditions. 

 
Absenteeism – unauthorised leave, patterns of absence (e.g., after weekends), 
recurring reasons for absence, lateness in the mornings or after lunch. 

 
Appearance - Flushed face or ‘bleary eyes’, aroma of alcohol/non-prescription drugs, 
hand tremors, deterioration of personal appearance. 
 

49



Substance Misuse Policy 
December 2022 Page 4 
  

Work performance - tasks take longer to perform, missing deadlines, mistakes due to 
inattention or poor judgement, complaints from colleagues or members of the public, 
inability to remember instructions and reliability, confusion. 

 
Conduct/behaviour – withdrawal, depression, anxiety, mood changes, 
uncharacteristic behaviour, accidents, alcohol on the breath, dishonesty, theft. 
 
6.3 Guidance for Managers on raising the issue of substance misuse  
 
Line managers who believe an employee is demonstrating signs which may be 
associated with the misuse of alcohol, drugs or other substances must raise the matter 
with the employee in private and offer guidance and support through the Council’s 
Occupational Health Services (referral is only possible by the line manager and via 
HR). and/or the Vivup Employee Assistance Programme. They should introduce the 
subject of deteriorating performance or behaviour without suggesting drugs, alcohol or 
substance misuse directly in the first instance, as a confrontational approach may be 
counterproductive. 
 
When raising the issue, line managers should remember the following points: 
 

• They are not expected to be alcohol, drug or substance specialists or 
counsellors. Their primary role is to address declining or unacceptable work 
performance or behaviour. 

 
• Meetings should not be conducted in public, but in a private room out of earshot 

and somewhere interruptions won’t take place. The employee should be 
encouraged to talk, and the use of emotive language should be avoided. 

 
• Managers shouldn’t jump to conclusions as the behaviour may not be due to 

alcohol, drugs, or substance use.  Asking the individual about how they view 
their work situation can be effective and get to the root of the problem. 

 
• Necessary paperwork with possible indications, including records of 

attendance, poor work performance and bad employee relationships should be 
on hand to show the employee that there is cause for concern. 

 
If no reasonable explanations are offered for the behaviour, the manager may ask if 
drugs, alcohol or substances are a factor; but the employee may deny it.  They will 
need to maintain a continuing dialogue on performance/behaviour issues and continue 
to offer relevant support.  There is currently no procedure in place at Bracknell Forest 
Council for drug, alcohol or substance testing. 
 
 
When an employee makes a disclosure:  
 

• Thank them for their disclosure and assure them that the council will support 
them in getting help.  

• Treat the matter in a non-judgemental and confidential way. 
• Offer the support of an occupational health referral and refer to the employee 

assistance programme  
• If the person has already contacted specialist agencies for support, identify how 

you can accommodate them (for example what time off might be needed). 

50

https://bfcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/Councilnews/SitePages/Employee-Assistance-Programme-bfc.aspx


Substance Misuse Policy 
December 2022 Page 5 
  

• Consider any health and safety implications – are there any aspects of their role 
that may put them or others at risk?  Are there any adjustments that need to be 
made to their role? 

• Refer the employee to the Substance Misuse policy and remind them that if 
they attend work under the influence of drugs or alcohol, this could become a 
disciplinary matter.  

 
6.4 Employees Attending Work Under the Influence of Alcohol, Drugs or Other 

Substances 
 
Where an employee arrives for work and appears to be incapable of carrying out their 
duties due to the influence of drugs, alcohol or other substances, they should be 
counselled by their line manager and informed of the possibility of disciplinary 
proceedings.  The manager should consult a First Aider to ensure there are no medical 
concerns, following which the employee should then be sent home until the next 
day/shift, as safety or service delivery are likely to be seriously compromised by their 
apparent condition.  If the manager observes that, in their opinion, the employee is not 
fit to drive, then they must arrange an alternative method for the employee to get home 
safely.   
 
On the employee’s return to work, the line manager must speak to them regarding the 
incident which occurred when they were last at work.  If the employee states that they 
believe they have a substance dependency, they should be referred to the 
Occupational Health Service.  Where an unsatisfactory explanation is received, the 
employee should be informed of the expectations of the employer (see paragraph 6.1) 
and the consequences of further occurrences.  In some cases, immediate measures 
may need to be taken – suspension may be considered during an investigation, 
however, may not be necessary.  For example, where an employee operates 
machinery or uses their car for business use, it is important that both activities are 
suspended until the employee is fit for work. Such misconduct is not necessarily 
evidence of a dependency problem. 
 
If an employee becomes concerned about a fellow employee’s behaviour and observes 
possible signs of alcohol or other substance misuse, the concerns can be raised in 
confidence with the relevant line manager. 
 
If an employee thinks that they have a problem, they can seek advice from their line 
manager or Employee Assistance Programme where confidentiality will be maintained  
 
6.5 Employee Support Available  
Support is available for employees through self-referral to the Staff Counselling Service 
employee assistance or management referral to the Council Occupational Health 
Service.   
 
Any contact with the Staff Counselling Service will remain confidential.  Occupational 
Health will report back to management within the rules of medical confidentiality.  
Departmental managers will maintain confidentiality as far as is compatible with 
protecting health and safety and the delivery of services.   
 
6.6 On-going Support/Treatment  
It is important that the line manager does not treat a referral to Occupational Health or 
an offer of counselling support as the end of the process.  Line managers should 

51

https://bfcouncil.sharepoint.com/SitePages/Staff-counselling-service.aspx


Substance Misuse Policy 
December 2022 Page 6 
  

continue to monitor the situation and offer appropriate help and support to the 
employee on an on-going basis.  
 
The individual may need time off for treatment.  Should treatment be required, time for 
appointments would be taken with the same limitations as time off for hospital/doctors 
appointments.  Those on the flexitime scheme will make appointments in their own 
time, those not on flexitime who cannot arrange appointments outside working time will 
be allowed the time off without reduction in pay.  
 
6.7 Managing Absence/Capability Issues 
If sickness absence has become a problem, the Council’s Managing Attendance Policy 
provides line managers with a framework for addressing issues of this nature.  The 
procedure emphasises the need to balance concern for the wellbeing of the individual 
employee, against the impact of the employee’s absence/performance on the delivery 
of Council services. 
 
If employee performance has declined to such an extent that the line manager wants to 
take further action, then the Council’s Performance Improvement and Capability 
Procedure can be used.  HR advice may be sought before starting this process. 
 
If appropriate, line managers should consider the use of the Council’s Disciplinary 
procedure.  Misconduct may include work performance being severely affected by the 
after-effects of alcohol consumption or having illegal drugs on their person at the 
workplace.  Managers may refer to HR for guidance and use the Disciplinary 
Procedure as appropriate.  If there are reports of misbehaviour, or even convictions 
outside work, related to drugs and alcohol and the line manager feels that they have an 
impact on the workplace, they should contact HR for advice on possible action.  
 
It may be, however, that action under the various Council procedures described in the 
preceding paragraphs above is not appropriate in a particular case, and continuing help 
and support is considered sufficient.  The substance dependency should be considered 
as a factor when determining what action needs to be taken.   
 
6.8 Substance Misuse Outside Work/Socially  
Where there is any substance use in an out of hours or social setting, for example at 
the weekend, employees are reminded that they must be fit to attend work when they 
are next due in work. .  Employees are reminded that they need to consider the impact 
of such use on the council as their employer, and that they should not bring the Council 
reputation into disrepute by, for example, posting on social media posts or discussing 
substance misuse whilst at work.  Should the council become aware of such behaviour, 
this may be subject to disciplinary action  
 
6.9 Team social events 
It may be appropriate for a manager to consider the potential impact on staff known to 
have drug, alcohol or substance dependencies (or recovering from), and discuss with 
them their preferences before arranging team social events. It may be necessary to 
hold any team social events in a venue that supports staff who may be working to 
reduce alcohol intake and does not encourage events such as Christmas outings or 
staff leaving events. 
 
Where drinks are arranged between colleagues as part of their employment (such as 
team drinks) employers will continue to be vicariously liable for employees’ behaviour 
at those drink events as it is likely to be seen “in the course of their employment”.   

52

https://bfcouncil.sharepoint.com/SitePages/Hospital-and-doctor%27s-appointments.aspx
https://bfcouncil.sharepoint.com/SitePages/Hospital-and-doctor%27s-appointments.aspx


Substance Misuse Policy 
December 2022 Page 7 
  

Therefore, the Council expects staff to maintain acceptable standards of behaviour and 
language during this time.  Should there be a report of unacceptable behaviour or 
language, employees may be subject to disciplinary action despite the event being 
outside working hours. 
 

53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes from previous meeting
	6 Minutes of Sub Groups
	Minutes

	7 Annual Update of The Council's Pay Statement
	To:	EMPLOYMENT committee
	1.1	Since 2012, and in accordance with the 2011 Localism Act, the Council has been required to publish an annual Pay Statement.  The Statement is also aligned with the requirements of the Transparency Regulations. The pay statement is applicable for the financial year 2023/24.
	PART A – Formulation of COMPULSORY policy in accordance with Regulation 60 of the
	Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
	Regulation 16 – Additional Pension Contributions
	Regulation 30(6) – Flexible Retirement
	Regulation 30(8) – Waiving of Actuarial Reduction
	Regulation 31 – Award of Additional Pension

	PART B – Formulation of RECOMMENDED policy in accordance with the
	Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
	APPENDIX B1 – EMPLOYER DISCRETIONS: INJURY ALLOWANCE
	Formulation of COMPULSORY policy in accordance with Regulation 14 of the
	Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011



	8 HR Policy Review - Substance Misuse Policy
	EC Substance Misuse Policy
	Approvals (if required)
	Change History
	1	INTRODUCTION
	2	EQUALITY
	3	PURPOSE
	4	PRINCIPLES
	5	SCOPE
	6	MANAGEMENT ADVICE AND GUIDANCE
	6.1	Rules regarding Consuming Drugs and Alcohol and other Substance Misuse
	6.2	Indications of Substance Misuse
	6.3	Guidance for Managers on raising the issue of substance misuse
	6.4	Employees Attending Work Under the Influence of Alcohol, Drugs or Other Substances
	6.5	Employee Support Available
	6.6	On-going Support/Treatment
	6.8	Substance Misuse Outside Work/Socially
	6.9	Team social events




